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_ ATTACHNINT

GSU Response to J. L. Milboan's July 31, 1992 .

Letter to J. C. Doddens

I. Baekorcund and Summarv

. Your letter of July 31, 1992 refers to a Complaint, dated
May 21, 1992, filed by Michael Holden, a former enployee of S&W
Technical Services, Inc. ("S&W") and General Electric - Nuclear
Services, with the U.S. Department of Labor. Mr. Holden alleges
discrimination by Gulf States Utilities Company ("GSU") pertaining
to his employment at the River Bend Station in violation of Section
210 of the Energy Reorganization Act.

By letter dated June 26, 1992, _the Distr ict Director' of'
the Wage and Hour Division, Erployment Standards Administration,
Department of Labor, found that " Michael W. Holden was a protected
Eisployee enyaged in protected activity within tne scope of thea
inergy scorganizar.lon Act and that discrimination was a. . .

factor in the actions which comprise his complaigt." Because GSU
strongly disagrees with that finding, fof the reasons outlined
belov, an appeal was promptly filed on July 2, 1992. The matter
has beehWor henim vn January 12, 1993_ before Depa~rtment of
Labor (" DOL") Administrative Law Judge Richa'rd D. Mills.

Mr. Holden's Complaint alleges discrimination in the
termination of his employnent at the River Bend Station related to
two outages -- the scheduled refueling outage from September 29 to

'

December 4, 1990, and the unscheduled outage for generator repair
from December 7, 1991 to January 21, 1992. Mr. Holden also
complains of alleged blacklisting, i.e., the giving of bad
references to potential employers following termination of
employment at River Bend.

Mr. Holden's claims were part of an investigation of
overall quality concerns pursued by GSU nanagement since the Fall
of 1991. As discussed below, two reports on these matters prepared
by an independent investigator in October 1991 and January 1992 are
available for examination at the site. These reports contain
conclusions which in some respects find fault with two GSU
supervisors and question their intentions. In many critical
respects, however, we found the reports inconclusive. Therefore,
when the Wage and Hour Division issued its findings on Mr. Holden's
employment clai=s on June 26, 1992 and the NRC subsequently
requested an explanation of actions related to Mr. Holden's
employ =ent, GSU management requested our outside counsel to
conduct a fresh, independent investigation into the facts. The
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results of the recent investigation, which we have reviewed for
accuracy and co:pleteness, are summarized below.

-

Hichael Holden's claims against CSU pertain to two
periods of employment. During the third refueling outage in the
last quarter of 1990, Holden, an SEW employee, was engaged at River
Bend as an ASME Technician. After several weeks, his supervisor
admonished him that his absences and lateness to work would not be
tolerated, and that his job perfor:ance and productivity were below
expectation. Holden's job performance did not improve, and he
continued to miss work on his assigned shift. As a result, Holden
was ter=inated in anticipation of a reduction in force toward the
end of the outage.

Holden's second period of esployment at River Bend
occurred when he was hired as a nillvright by General Electric
during a generator repair outage in December 1991 - January 1992.
Holden worked at River Bend until the completion of this outage.
A GSU employee mentioned in passing to a GE representative his' |

surprise that Holden and others were scheduled to work on Christmas
day. No adverse action,against Holden was suggested by the GSU i

employee, nor was any taken by GE.- Holden worked on Christmas day,
as scheduled, with others on his work crew. He was routinely i

terminated by GE on January 22, 1992, the day af ter the end of the 1

outage. At no ti=e did this GSU employee discuss with GE its I

decision to hire Holden, his performance as a millvright, or !
whether GE should eeploy or re-employ Holden. j

|

Between these two periods of employnent at River Bend, |
Holden filed a quality concern with the GSU Quality Concern

'

Frogram, alleging that his first supervisor had given " bad
references" about him to prospective erployers. However, Holden
withdrew this concern the following day. Later, when Holden was
employed as a millvright by CE during the generator repair outage'

in December 1991, he filed another quality concern re-alleging the
clain of " bad references" to prospective employers. However, the

only person named by Holden as hearing the GSU supervisor give such
" bad references" emphatically denies Holden's clain. Holden
apparently drev an inference that he was being given " bad
references" because he could not find work as an ASHE Technician
after the third refueling outage at River Band. Our discussion
with the job shop which referred Holden to River Bend, however,
showed that Holden's dif ficulty in finding other than craf t work is ;

not unexpected, given his qualifications. This is confir=ed by our
own experience with Holden's work at River Bend -- that he did not |

know and could not properly apply ASME Code requirements, which led
in part to his teruination.

d
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Finally, Holden claimed in his second quality concern
that his termination by GSU in 1990 resulted from his supervisor's
interception of certain documents intended for a GSU QA Engineer.
We have determined that this claim has no merit because,

(1) substantial reasons (poor perfor:ance and poor attendance)
already existed for Holden's termination; (2) Holden did not !

produce or compile the documents in question, but was merely asked
by a fellev employee to deliver them; (3) no adverse action was ;

taken against the employee who did assemble the docu=entation -- he.
4

!

remained at the site until July 10, 1992, when he left voluntarily;
and (4) the supervisor in question immediately turned over the
docu=ents to the QA Engineer for whom they were intended.

On the basis of our investigation, we have concluded that
there vere no actions taken against Mr. Holden by GSU employees as
a result of his having engaged in protected activities under
Section 210 of the Energy Reo ganization Act, and that there are no
actions taken by GSU employees respecting Mr. Holden's employment.
which have had or ar* likely to have a chilling effect in
discouraging other licensee or contractor employees from raising
perceived saf ety concerns. ,

-

II. piscussion

Mr. Milhoan's letter of July 31, 1992 first requests a
response which:

1. Provides the basis for the employment action

regarding the forcer contract e=ployee and includes
a copy of any investigation reports you have
regarding the circumstances of the action.

Holden's repJoynent Mistorv

Michael Holden entered into a contract with S&W Technical
.

Services, Inc. for assignment to River Bend as an ASME Technician,I

by which employment agreement Holden commenced work at River Bend
on September 24, 1990 during the third refueling outage ("RT-3") .
Holden was assigned to a work er the direct su rvision of;

'

crew of ASME.

Engineers and Technicians was responsi e for i erpreting ASME
! code requirements for craf t personnel performing valve work during

RT-3, which commenced S ember 29,1990. Other contract employees
all of whom imilarly,

i assigned to ,

selected b GSU rom resumes submitted by S&W, wer'

8
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:

,

6 , also work the crew. was a referral
which wasfrom .,'

subsequently purchased by S&W. S&W
and . .. L .. .

vaa. _ _ . _

assigned to a different work crew under the supervision o
4

. rather thanM the ~
-" ----' " - - '

As with all workers on this crew (and others during the i

outage), Holden was scheduled to work six 12-hour shifts weekly |

during the course of his employnent. On September 24, 1990, Holden
core: nced General Ewployee Training, which lasted through Septer.ber
29. Holden failed to show up for vork on September 30, 1990, his !

first scheduled day of work on the job. A graph depicting Holden's
daily work log is attached as Reference 1. No advance notice or
subsequent explanation was given f or his absence. The following
day, Holden worked only eight hours of his regularly scheduled 12-
hour shift. On October 5, 1990, Holden failed to work for an hour
of his scheduled shif t. Again, no reason for this early departure
and absence is reflected in the log maintained by the crew foreman.-

On October 12, 1990, Holden worked only three hours and went home
sick. The next day, he was one-half hour late for work. On
October 18, 1990, Holden again f ailed to show up for work. On
October 26, Holden worked two and a quarter hours and again vent

,

! home sick.

As Holden's discussed Holden's

a, erfor:ance with his irse late su)isior e GSU
,

also

j heceived input f ro As

,
a result of discussions vit became

; increasingly convinced that Holden did not have the knowledge of
ASME code sections III and XI claimed in his resu=e, and that he
could not perforin his re spons i.hilities as an ASHE Technician
adequate 1 of one incident, for example, W

.
;

! which to check the dryvell to determine
whether the valves were nanufactured by Dresser or Velan. Holden |

1 reported approximately 10 of the 20 valves incorrectly, as l

! determined by another crew member who rechecked the valves. -Holden !

! had no explanation for misidentifying the valves. The inference '

inescapable that he had either failed to check the valves at || vas
| all or did not know how to distinguish between the two types.

Additionally,( M 1 vere concerned about
Holden's oor attendance record in contras(to the good records of

;

(References 2 and 3). Yet another concern was
Holden's low productivity. While some allowance is generally made

!
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] concluded that Holden's constantfor personal habits,
snacking at his desk, followed by retreats to the smoking area for
fifteen minutes or more every several hours, seriously interfered
with his productivity.

,

Sometime during the week commencing October 28, 1990,
met v h Holgn to discuss his absenteeism and inadequate

perfodance. Mtold Holden at that time that his work was not '

,

up to par. oldiiIn was advised that his attendance and job
performance,had to ir. prove or other actions would be necessary.
Holden told 6'that he was hav ng car trouble, which was making ,

it hard for~Ein-To get to work, an extra day off
so that Holden could take care of his car, and told him that he
would no longer accept car problems as an excuse for Holden's poor
attendance. Holden took of f from work on November 1,1990 to take
care of his car. Nonetheless, problems with absenteeism continued.
On November 10, 1990, Holden failed to work an hour of his

;

scheduled shift, and on November 13 failed to show up for work.
altogettar.

- , 's the RT-3 outage proceeded, it was the responsibility
h WA in consultation with his subordinates, to determine
which i: Gliduals should be laid off as work decreased and it,

became nccessary to gke reductions in force at the request of GSU,
Cost Accounting.
periodically to determine which inMwere best qualifiedY
complete the remaining work for the outage as it proceeded. Given

4

the anticipated reduction in force and the problems experienced
ith Holden's absenteeism and performance, Holden's unexplained
absence on Novenber 13, 1990 was the last straw as far h
was concerned.

i

Therefore, owing to his unimpressive job performance and
attendance record, Holden was the first of the crew to be
terminated by the reduction in force. By letter dated November 15,
1990, GSU Contracts / procurement informed S&W that, "(d]ue to a
reduction in force . . . the services of Hr. Michael Holden vill no ,

longer be required ef fective November 16, 1990." Our investigation
therefore shows that Holden was terminated in accordance with
normal reduction-in-force procedures. Mr. Holden's termination was
fully justified by the non-discriminatory reasons of his weak job
performance, low productivity, and poor attendance record,

particularly in comparison with { M ]other S&W employees
.

4
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Preparation and Disposition of Condition JeDort 90-100s

In his findings, the Do District Di tor referred to
"the interception by supervisor of an envelope
containing papers relatin to Qu ty C,oncern ) /90-108& that
was filed by employee Judging from Holden's"

j

letter of May 21, 199Mo DOL, we be eve DOL was referring to
documents relating to Condition Report (CR) 90-1008.

Although Holden was in no way involved in the 're aratio ;

or disposition of CR 90-1008, he nonetheless claims
tried to block the transmittal of the envelope to GSU trualit[ !

Assurance (QA) Engineering personnel. We found his claim to lack |

credibility because, as discussed below, QA Engineering had already
received a copy of CR 90-1008, was well informed of the velding '

a

incident described in CR 90-1008, and was actively tracking the
investigation and root cause anal epared by Maintenance in
response to CR 90-1008. Moreove ersonally called the GSU
Senior QA Engineer into his of fice to s ov his the contents of 'ths'
envelope at issue. The issuance of CR 90-1008 and the " envelope
incident" occurred as described below.

On the evening shift of October 26, 1990, a work crew
supervised and M

,

'

p was conducting RCIC testing. A gul e to e use as a
,

was necessary to complete the testing. M asked
MM, to fabricate the tool, but the elder ,

pointed 66t that he had not been qualified to veld aluminum as f
required for the fabrication. Nonetheless, he defepred to the [
judgment of N that the velding fell outside the }
requirements of the GSU velding procedure for non-ASME Code velding

|
(SPP-7011) because the fabrication did not involve a permanent |

plant component, but only a tool which would be temporarily used,

and discarded. ,

; After the velder proceeded,
~ _ !

, observed the velding and orBere
to stop. M knew that 'M vas not among the velders;

qualified to veld aluminum. He also observed that the velder was'

making his own veld filler material from scrap pieces of aluminua |;

! without a Maintenance Work order (MWo) and veld data sheet package.
After a discussion with took up the zatter with !

M] who agreed with t a foreman's nterpretation that the work !
as not subject to non-ASME Code requirements under GSU procedures,

f subsequent 1 discussed the i ei t with h
,

'

t
f concurred wit !

| ] interpretation that the weld was outside SPP-7011 [

!

-6-
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requirements because the fabricated tool was not intended to be i

used as a pe r:anent component of the ant. t because the
velding was completed over his objections R 90-

1008.
|.

Following normal procedure for disposition of a Condition
geport, CR 9.0-1008 was logged and then assigned by Outage Director
I l act g for the Plant Manager, to Maintenanc' M

e for a
in turn assigned this responsibility toresponse.

the GSU Senior Welding Engineer, and
the]re sponseho asked

for Block 10 of CR 90-1008L t repare
(Invest gation, Analysis, Corrective Action, Disposition Details,
Work Instructions) and Block U (Root cause and Corrective Action
to Prevent Recurrence), b~ hen reviewed the i tial draf t of

Blocks 10 and 13 prep 3 red however, he

concluded thatF N vould n sign off on the draft responsei

because the draft stated that the violation has resulted from a
planned and deliberate attempt to circumvent GSU veldingirocedures

3A-B)I Based An his discussions witMM''4 p.

{ W(Reference was h opinion tha t the supervisorsknew it
misunderstanding of GSU veldin rocedures had caused the

violation. In any event, was unconvinced that the

6 had deliberately attempted to circumvent those

procedures.

himself prepared e response to CR 90-1008 which
resultin g from the supervisors'explaine the violation as

9
misconception (Reference 4, p. 3). T h approved that

analysis, including corrective action to Tetrain velders as to the
applicability of GSU velding procedures to non-plant co=ponents.
Each GSU and contract velder on site at the time (as well as the'

CSU Mechanical Maintenance foreman whose nisinterpretation had i

resulted in CR 90-1008) was required to cerJify that he had read :

and understood the clarification provided by@7 the GSU Senior 6

Welding Engineer (Reference 4, pp. 4-7) .F
lIn his corrective memorandum,g advised that "all i

velding perforced during the fabrication of non-code tools should ,

be performed in accordance with SPP-7011," encompassing such '

activities as truck repair, shop tool fabrication and other i

miscellaneous velding activities as defined by the Welding
Engineer. The memorandum pointed out that velders who wish to

including both th{ an[ raftF CR 9 0-1008,
of the Analysis and Root % use discussion and" final

disposition, is attached as Reference 4. |
.

f

~7-
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i

become proficient in a velding process for which they were not yet ,

qualified "may obtain veld filler material for practice \ training I
purposes" under existing procedures.

Following completion of the corrective action, CR 90-1008
was subm tted by Plant Maintenance to QA Engineering for review. |
However, , rejected Blocks !

10 and 13 as draf ted and sent CR 90-1008 back to Plant Maintenance l

for revision on July 29, 1991. In the view of the 6 |
6, Blocks 10 and 13 as drafted were "a deliberate attempt to !

mask the events and actions identified" in the Condition Report. |
He therefore believed t)at the "ori nal position details (h, ;

the draft prepared by C presented to QA at the j
ti=e the CR was written, due to reque by this QAE, should be ,

utilized." A copy of the QA Condition Report checklist containing ;

these statements is attached as Reference 5. -

The statenents the resulted in a -

request by for reviev' |
by higher manage nt. Because it appeared th an spasse had been
reached as to whether the welder's supervisors misundersto |

appli able velding procures or simply ignored thee
requested QA to hire independent |,

investigator' to review the facts. QA employed ' M a7 '

former GSU egloyee, to conductpe invLestigation. On October 17, ;

1991,p6~ Tiled htis report. .M interviewed those involved
,

in the'velding inc6 and found disparate evidence as to whether
the velding supervisors had misunderstood the applicability of GSU
velding procedures for non-ASME Code work to the fabrication of the
tool needed for RCIC testing, or had circu= vented those procedures
in an ef fort to save time during the outage. Mnferred that
the two experienced supervisors presumably knew the applicable
procedure, which they%onetheless ignored.F '

~

Disposition of CR 90-1008 and Related Ouelity concerns

At the time CR 90-1008 was undergoing disposition, the |

Gsv Quality Assurance Department was investigating anonymously j
1

#6eport of investigation is available for lospection3'

at the site. This report was prepared by h at the |
request of GSU management to determine the need for corrective :

- action. Therefore, GSU has asserted the privilege afforded ,

self-critical analysis to oppose production.of this report in |
the pending DOL proceeding brought b olden against GSU. '

_g_
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filed Quality concerns 90-10-022A (alleging that velders possessed
uncontrolled welding material) and 90-10-0225 (alleging that the
reorganization of Welding Engineering within Maintenance had
adversely impacted the Welding Progran). These concerns were
received anon sly on 0 tober 30, 1990, and were investigated by

who would subsequently
eco=a involved"vith the d sposition of CR 90-1008.

It was during the course of invest gati of
Quality concerr.s 90-10-022A & B tha informed he
ad initiated CR 90-1008 after disco ng the velding violation.
M ' told h M 'b erned about the dy faren
disposition Yi CR To ecause he was conpM,1008 drafted by _ Becaused
deeted this issue pertinent to the management issue ra;. sed by
Quality Concern 90-10-022B, the disposition of CR 90-1008 became
tied to that of the quality concern. .

The closure of Quality concerns 90-10-022A/B is explained
in a memorandum of August 4, 1992 issued by

This memorandum provides the.

chronolog7 of the earlier actions leadi to the clo ure of the
Quality Concern It states ha i

discussed with , the results of the
investigation conducted b into the differences of opinion
as to how CR 90-1008 should - dispositioned.F Among other
things, the 6 was requested to respond in writing to
indicate the actions taken or to be taken, including any
disciplinary action:

a) To insure procedural compliance to the
velding program procedures.

b) To insure an atmosphere that condones
deceitful responses to QA no longer
exists or is tolerated. ,

c) To insure that responses to adverse
conditions can be truthfully prepared

.

F In view of the need to preserve a claim of privilege for self-
critical analyses in the pending dol proceeding, a copy of the
August 4 memorandum and attachments thereto are available for
inspection at the site. Maintaining these records on site is
also necessary to protect the confidentiality of concerns
anonynously filed with the GSU Quality concern Program.

-9-
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'

even when supervision does not. . .

agree with them.1

Additionally, the 6 sas asked to provide any evidence
; supporting the concern of the that the final

disposition of CR 90-1008 was deliberately delayed.

By memorandum dated April 8, 1992, t
7responded to the questions from the The m

i; 6 acknowledged that the standa a and expectations
established at the plant in pursuit of excellence, including
" forthright, truthful connunication to QA and all other'

organizations, internal and external" had not been met in this
'

instance, where " schedule pressure apparently (led) to a bad
,

decision," requiring written reprimand or oral counseling Of the
Maintenance canagement personnel involved. The M

J stated his intention to meet v;th each of the individuals to
'iscuss the poor judgment exercised, appropriate standards , of
p.rormance, and the need to exercise integrity and escalate'
disagreements to higher management. In that regard, the M
M expressed his opinion that Maintenance Engineering had
provided an accurate response to CR 90-1008, but had failed' to
escalate the situation to higher management when its proposed ;

disposition was rejected. Finally, the M stated that '

he was unable to find any evidence of a deliberate delay by
Maintennnce in responding to CR 90-1008. !

! Following this action, the personally
assu ed responsibility for disposition o CR 0-1008. He
reinstated the analysis of the welding incident originally prepared

'

by Maintenance Engineering, except to delete the statements in the
final paragraph that the procedural violation was a planned and ;

deliberate attempt to circumvent the CSU velding program. W.

N identified the root cause and corrective action to
'

j prevent recurrence (Block 13) by reference to his memoran$um of ,

i April 8, 1992. On this basis, QA Engineering closed out CR 90-1008 |
1with the following notation-
'

!
This CR is closed based on the revised
disposition provided in correcti.e action

; taken by (corrective'

.

action) is
. N of a personal nature and vill

not be made part of this CR. This QAE is in
agreement and recommends closure based on
block 13 and revised block 10. No additional
action is warranted.

-10-
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Holden's claim of Discriminatory |

Termination Because of the Envelope Incident
._

|
As this chronology of events makes clear, Holden had no !

!personal involve =ent whatsoever in the preparation or disposicion!

of CR 90-1008. His second-hand knowledge of the matters described f,

in CR 90-1008 stemmed completely from his dQcussions with other |

individuals. While Holden sided with%j n the difference ofi

!
opinion which developed between plant Maintenance management and i.i

; Welding Engineering over the disposition of CR 90-1008, he had no
'

real part in it. Our investigation also shows that the responsible;

us
their differing versions with taa responsible i

for the closure of CR 90-1008 afler the welding incident had-

occurred.
:

l None of this involved or affected Holden. iwas aware of Holden's generalized
'; resarks that he might "go to the NRC," but thought Holden was

;
' referring to problems the plant was experiencing with the Service

Water System (SWS), which had already been the subject of various ;

4 Condition Reports. He knew that the NRC was aware of SWS problems, |

and that the NRC had either seen or had easy access to whatever
i condition Reports had been logged. His comment to those who

informed him of Holden's threats to go to the NRC was that, if
Holden vanted to go to the NRC, he should "have at it."

.

The only involve:nent claimed by Holden with regard to CR |
' '

|
90-1008 concerns the alleged interception of what Holden described
as " substantiating documents" by co-worke C m ].

;
; our investigation of these allegations shows that thC,

i initiator of CR 90-1008, had placed a number of docu ents reTating
to CR 90-1008, photos of the SWS, and a computer printout of'

dates 1 ancontract personnel with designated termination t(M(ito
i unsealed, string-tied envelope. He gave the env

give to Holden for delivery to ,who

! as coming on the next shift 7 shove , one osures to

! who decided that he sh d show them to' HenceM.

facted" any documents. In /! n no way a nter
: im=edi oly called to his office and showed M,, # the

L
documents in the env lope.

5 computer printout of
j Included in the envel was a

4
contract erployees on which had marked up the names and
anticipated termination datesj f ain employees, based on the

J
' upcoming reduction in force. re=oved this list as well as

; ^
i

i
-11-
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photos of the SWS (which he had personally shot) because those l
items _had been taken from his desk without his permission. )

i has confirmed to us that this printout was among the items neluded ,

is a strong inference tha% no longer has the printout, therein the envelope. Althoug; t it contained Holden's termination date ,

of November 15, 1990. j

Nothing in our investigation s - rts the inJerenc qthat |
Holden was targeted for termination b because M had |
intended him to pass along docu:ents to Holden was used j

only as a conduit in delivering docu=ents t -- documents |
:

iwhich he already had or (like the personnel 1 st) were of no safety
or quality concern. Moreover(M who compiled the documents |
for delivery to'MDand who presumably knew the identity of I

the person idzo had illicitly taken the photos and computer printout |
frontqdesk, remained employed at the site continuously from i

'

RT-3 until July 10, 1992. Holden was not terminated because of any
engaged, but because #p i

of an ordirdry reduction,oorprotected activity in which he
in',

performance evaluated in the course
force.

)
Our nest recent investigation also focused on Holden's j

allegations in his letter of May 21, 1991 to DOL that management j

had pressured another co-worker to change the content of a |

Condition Report to the point of threattening to fire his if he did
not alter his findings to suit managencnt. Holden is ja parently :

|
referring to the velding incident which resulted ini 6l j

,

i initiation of CR 90-1008. As discussed a our investigation,

hewed that. h D the Codes f, ! andards had asked
and

to draft a response to CR 90-1008. however,
believed that the draft response cade the unv anted assumption
that the velder and his supervisors had deliberately circumvented.

well-understood welding procedures.

M) ding of the f acts.ersonally redraf ted the response in accordance
| vith his erstan Our investigation showed that

dr ta revised res se on his own, and did not
{@ pressure"aftedeithe to rewrite the response or to

response. ee_ , the day af ter the veldingendorse hi redra . requested M (/toincident, prepara a memorandum
describing incident and documenting his reasons for initiating
he Cor.dition Re ort (Refer nce 6) . Contrary to any threat to fire

reassured ~~dfter the incident (as@d7As notehas a Xnowledgetf to us) tha ob was secure.

i remained en ed at a site til July 10, 1992, when he
eft vo untarily. confirmed to us that no one at River

Bend threatened to f re h over this or any other incident.

-12-
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Th
genies that he told Holden that "there was

nothing they could do, that their hands were tied," regarding a
!

Quality Concern filed by Holdsn. At the ti=a of his exit interviev:

on November 15, 1990, Helden filed what was logged as Quality ;

This concern asserted in broad terms a negative |
'

Concern 90-11-015.
attitude in upper =anage.nent, unspecified proble=s with the SWS,

<

1ack of competent crafc personnel and other eatJers. It was

ultimatel dispositioned as unsubstantiated byN
in a remorandum dated April 17, 1991. ,

i' ,

Both thed , employee who logged this concern,
' deny having made the remark attributed to so=e GSU ,

employeetfHolden.F j
!

Holden's Re-E=ployment at River Bond as a !

0:l oyee of General Electric - ADA Maintenance |lContract
|

During an unscheduled outage from December 7, 1.991

through January 21, 1992, General Electric ("GE") provided contract
;

services at River Bend for generator repair. ADA Haintenance is a <

subsidiary of GE which provided workers and technicians to GE for2

field work at the plant during this outage. Holden was hired as a |

millwright by ADA Maintenance for work with GE, and reported with I

'

December 15, 1991. Shortly after heother new hires on or abouthe happened to encounte:%the GSITIM]reported to work,
6, on the turbine deck. In thefr conversation, |

Holden told to 6 ( that he was working overtice on Christmas. |,

Judging from H61 den's tone of voice and choice of words,' M
*

<

believed that Holden was bragging about his overti:e to taunt him.
the j

Later was in the office of ', to discuss ongoin(>

GSU
th ' .

1

.

welding repairs. s administrative vo #
I N , a GE subsidiary which perWhile' M was on thefor ADA Mainten nee, was also present.

, entioned toMjHolden's comment aTout working
; telephone,,

overtime o hristmas. He air,o mentioned that GSU had previously
had a problem with Holden and had to let him go.;

j

|
Our investigation shoved tha [ M did not Jhink that

Holden. Rather, hought188mm]avas
(assum$iEvanted GE to fire,

the confidentiality of quality concerns lodged withF Because
the Quality concerns Program is stringently enforced, Holden's

. quality concern files vill be made available for inspection at
the River Bend site in accordance with past GSU practice
acceptable to the NRC.

-13-
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angry that Holden was bragging about his overtime at a time when
asU vjo kers were having dif ficulty getting enough overtine. In
fact,T M was upset with Holden's boast of overtime work on ,

Christmas because he believed that GSU employees would not be ;

working on Christmas. Therefore, he saw no use for any GE vork
'

crews, including # Holden or othersise, to be working on Christmas. i

di report to any GE supervisor or other
'

personnel Qat L%,d, or anyone at GSU vanted Holden to be fired,
At no point

nor didh.ake any such request on W own initiative. Moreover,
Holden did in fact work on Christmas. '

.

In fact, Holden continued to work for GE until January
22, 1992, af ter the end of the outage on January 21, 1992. Our
investigation shows th6c he was released by GE in accordance with '

the normal reduction in force toward the end of the outa Our.

investigation also shows that
6 Amp for Holden's group and Holden's
was sa cisfied with Holden's work as a mill ht and h recei

no cemplaints regarding is ob erformance from any GSU or'GE
personnel. According t Holden's termination date was
determined by the end of the out go.

At the ti=e ad discussed the
conversation between ad asked Holden to

state his version of at happened. Iden acknowledged making
c6r.ments of the sort attributed to him by M but denied any ,

intention of boastin about overtine. Apparently upset by his
perception tha was trying to have him removed, Holden1

complained to ~a stated that he va ed to file angher-

quality concerE directed Holden to 6 of*

the GSU Quality Concern Program, who logge his allegations as i

Quality Concern 91-12-008A/S. This was the second quality concern
filed by Holden related to his coploy=ent.

On February 12, 1991, Holden had first filed allegations ,

'with the Quality Concern Pygram (logged as Quality Concern 91-02-
008) claiming that N had damaged his reputation with bad ;

'

references to prospective employers. Holden stated that he was
unable to obtain other emplo ent after leaving River Band during i

!RT-3. He also alleged that
6 had overhear ('M_giving such re erences. The next day,
February 13, 1991,Diden withdrew his concern and requested that
it not be pursued.

It was af ter his conversations with'' on
December 31, 1991 that Holden re-initiated essentially the same
claim of bad references as Quality Concern 91-12-008 A & B. Concern
A alleged that Holden was "getting bad references from River Bend''

-14-'
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and had been unable to obtain employment at other nuclear plants. 1

Concerrr B related to the " envelope incident" discussed above. I
'

These claims have been held open pending disposition of the same
claims in Holden's DOL complaint.

Whe [ was advised of,

Holden's alle a ions of bad references, he assigned 6 to
conduct a second investigation, which resulted in a Report of
Investigation on Quality Concern No. 91-12-008A/S, filed January .

28, 1992. As part of the Quality Concern Program files, this
document is also available for NRC inspection at the site. The

report found no evidence that any GSU personnel had given bad
-

references about Holden to prospective employers. Nevertheless,

emmemama concluded in his report, that it was his " impression" that
persons in the codes & Standards group, as well as S&W personnel,
had attempted to cast Holden in the worst possible light to destroy i

his credibility.

report did not itself contain evidence ' to'
substantia e suc an impression, but in view of the formal
allegations filed by Holden in his letter of May 21,1992-to DOL, ,

GSU management authorized outside counsel to conduct a fresh |

investigation into Holden's termination of employment at River Bend
during the RT-3 outage in the Tall of 1990 and the outage for ,

generator repair in December 1991. This new investigation also i
'

'ncluded Holden's claims tha ' hishmsags
'

had given bad re Ferences to prospective rauclear
'

employers. No written report was prepared, but the results of this.

investigation as reviewed and accepted by management are synopsized
in the findings below.

1. Employment history and work records establish that
Holden was t e rmina t ed during RT-3 for poor job performance in
anticipation of a routine reduction in force. As discussed above,

Holden was hired as an ASME Technician solely on the basis.of his'

resume. Yet, it became increasingly apparent during the outage
that Holden's knowledge of ASME Code Sections III and XI was i

grossly inadequate. Moreover, his documented absences and I

tardiness, combined with low productivity, fully justified his
termination. Other S&W employees who were retained, by comparison,
had exemplary attendance records and were far more knowledgeable in
the application of ASME Code requirements.

Therefore, we have concluded that Holden's termination in
November 1990 was justified upon grounds of his poor employment
performance. Also, owing to Holden's lack of ASME Code expertist,
the inability of S&W to ace Hold in a similar osition at other

, andplants is unremarkable.

-15-
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i

u /
|described Holden as a " field"
<

and,' a machinist," "a millvrig t," whom they had "given a real
break" in placing him at the South Texas plant as a " subject matter
expert" for mechanical maintenance training. These individuals
stated that S&W had tried to give Holden "the benefit of the doubt" i

in placing him at South Texas as an instructor inasmuch as he was
more aptly qualified as a " nuts and bolts guy."

This has reinforced our judgment that Holden was simply
not qualified to work as an ASME Technician at River Band, and also
explains why he has been unable to achieve such a position at other
plants.

2. The so-called " envelope incident" played no part in
Holden's termination on November 15, 1990 during RF-3. Holden
claims that his termination du ing RT-3 resulted from his receipt

'
of the envelope whic the initiat of had,

prepared for deliver? to the
responsible for approving its tri spos ition. ~~-' our ree'ent
investigation shows that those involved in the " envelope incident" <

have responded truthfully concerning the -events, and that the |

incident was unrelated to Holden's termination. |
'

- m
6 had spoken to Holden about his repeated absences |

and tardiness a ,nd had made it clear in no uncertain terms that
further absenteeism would not be tolerated. Holden failed to
report to work on tovember 13, 1990. To hy]this was the last ]
straw. November 14 was Holden's regularly scheduled day off. On '

November 15, Holden was notified of his termination, ef fective the i

next day.

'

In any event, our recent investigation found no
individual involv in this incident who claims thatMwas
upset by passi docu=ents to Rather, all
involved in the ident
agreed that as upse that photographs of the SWS and the

'

contract personnel list had been taken from his desk without his
permi ion. Moreover, Iden's nly role in the inci nt was as a |

courlei I the envel had handed to to give to ;

Holden to deliver to We find no plausible reason why i'

'Holden would have been the rget of any discrimination based on
this very incidental involvement. As noted, himself
remained employed at t site until hen he left |,

voluntarily. An personally psure at the time .I
of the envelope inciden tha job was secure, even though

obviously .sv VAo d .; the photos and contract
ersonne lisi from M ' desk.

.|"

|
,
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|

|

@r'eade no request that General Electric fire
_

3.
Holde6 and was confiIrned only about u,pnecessar IU2)idakovertize.
our i v i ation has confir:ed that! .(the m

|had a chance encountar with Holden during the
.

,

generator outage in December 1991 for generator repair in vhich
Holden tol f M that he was working overti=a on Christmas. It

struckMs tnusual that Holden or any contract employee would
be schedule 6 for overti:e on Christ as inasmuch as he was unaware
of any scheduled work. Because he thought no GSU personnel would
be working,f%saw no need for any stand-by crew of contract
employees. -

In centionir- thi concern to' ,

W representative,I
' ried to ma e it clear that he was.

concerned about any contract crev vorking er Christmas, not just

Holden. Im is howev that did>not ask forHolden to be fired. 6p rtain, ,
|

Holden's 7
the generator outage, confirmed tham did not tell b adurin

wanted Holden fired. Howevpr, in discussions withJhat '

6 den apparently misinterpreted g point.

h was totally unconcerned with whether GE hired f[Infact, '

Holden re:ained employed as a millvright for GEHolden.
until January 22, 1992, after completion of the outage on January
21, 1992. W has stated that Holden's work as a millwTight
was satisf actory and that he would hire his again. Accordingly, ve
find no evidence that N state.ents to any GE representative
adversely impacted Holden's f uture employnent with GE or any other
contractor.

4. No GSU e=ployee has given " bad references" concerning
Holden to any prospective employer. As dis Nssed above, Holden
filed Quality Concern 91-02-008 on Februar, 12, 1991, which he
withdrev the next day, and Quality Conce. n 9?'12-00 Q & B on
Dece=ber 31, 1991. These concerns allege that h yrovided
prospective e=ployers with bad refersnces. Our recent

investigation hac found no such discrimination, nor have ve found
any reason why any GSU employee vould have discriminated against
Holden. He was not involved in the preparation or disposition of CR
90-1008 or any other quality or saf ety-related document at issue,
except for the quality concern he filed anonymously at the time of |

his exit interview on November 15, 1990. Because quality concerns
are filed and processed with strict confidentiality to the
concernee, no GSU employee outside the Quality Assurance Department
and upper :nanagement even knew of this concern or its disposition
as unsubstantiated. Also, we see nothing in Holden's history of
e=ployment at River Bend which would have motivatedMor any

-

.

'
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other GSU employee to "get even" by giving bad references to
prospective employers. i.

1

GSU(I+nces con _cer_ning Holden to prospective employers or anyone
bot the he.

,'
,

vigorout y deny giving a Y bad j
refez 1

else. Neither individual recalls any inquiries about Holden. More j
specifically, neither recalls any conversation with any S&W or GE |

representative about Holden's performance. |

|

M )acknevledges that S&W periodically asks J or i

feedback bli some7mployees, but recalls no conve tions.yith m !
Mor any other S&W amployee regarding Holden. said ha !

was mirither surprised nor concerned when he learned at Holden was ,

working for GE during the generator outage in December 1991. He |
assumed from Holden's resume and the nature of the generator repair )

work that Holden was employed as a millvright. He knew that the I

work required a number of millwrights and thou t it was up to' GE i

t; decide who it should hire for this work. 7 received no ,

Irequest for reterences regarding Holden from any epresentative of
the Arkansas Gne plant or any other plant'or contractor.

'also denies giving any bad references to Holden's
prospectiva employers. He acknowledges thJt, in discussing

1Holden's bragging about Christras overtime witM
he explained as back round that Holden had been

previously terminated during RT-3. is unsure how he
characterized Holden's termination, may have attributed it
Holden's sub-par performance,

our recent investigation f sed sharply on the
recollection of ,

since 1987, regKTding their contacts with iden. ecalls he
informed Holden that he had been terminated s of Fovember 16, |

,

'
1990, based on a telephone call from a
representative of at he site, followed
up by a letter to that effect. Both he an ' described this 1

lprocess as very routine. Holden calle a th or two after
he had been terminated. Holden tol that he had been
terminated because of problems he had i if ed, and that he was

going to file a Quality Concern with GSU.(huun]ts told him to "make
sure your facts are straight." ;

i

Jiolden alle 3 second time and spoke with him and j
During this second call,.

thathehadbeenunabletofindwork]
,

_
IHolden tol

adgivenbadreferences.{w
.,

elsewhere, claiming tha (
i
;

-18-
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.

says that Holden offered no proof of any bad references, but had
apparently drawn he inference because he could not find

e=ployment. ' categorically denies the state =ents Holden i

attributed t la iT) Tis Dot complaint, LL., that Holden's pursuit
of his quality concern on alleged " bad references" would jeopardiza
Holden's career and possibly compromiseN position. Eh ;

further denies saying anything about
as Holden claimed in his DOL co pla t. 1so emphaticall

denies Holden's co tention that ha told a that he ,

had overheard giving a b re erence concernin Holden to'a '

representative o" the Arkansas one plant. enies being
s or overhearingpresent ig$of fice at the time Holden cla

any conversations from someone from Arkansas one.

our recent investigation also looked into the problems
claimed by Holden in obtaining new employment. ;.

explained that S&W tried to find new work for Rolden af ter his
termination at River Bend. S&W submitted a packet of approximately
50-75 resumes to Arkansas One, including Holden's. About 20 SE

employees vere hired, but not Holden.
categorically deny any " blacklisting" of Hold , or that any GSU

-

e=ployee ever asked S&W to exclude Holden from future applications.
Attempts by S&W to place Holden at Arkansas one and other plants
were nonetheless unsuccessful. pointed out that a ,

majunty of S&W applications are generally rejected, and S&W never
asks prospective employers why they had not selected particular
applicants. R e g a r d i ng,H o l d e n ' s q u a l i f ica t i on s to perform other
than craft work, 'ackncvledged that S&W had given Holden a i

"real break" in la ing him at South Texas as an ASME Code
instructor and further acknowledged, in retrospect, that Holden's
technical qualifications f or the ASME Technician position at River

.

Bend were marginal.
;

IThe sum of the evidence leads us to conclude that Holden
is not a skilled ASME Technician, and that it is not unexpected |

-

that Holden vould experience dif ficulty in obtaining work above the
'

!
craft level at other nuclear power plants. We find no evidence
that his inability to obtain such employment can be attributed to |

any " bad references" or any other statements by GSU employees to |

prospective employers or job shops regarding his qualifications. |

Moreover, contrary to the " impression" stated in th(%eport !
.

'

!of January 28, 1992, our recent investigation uncovered no reason
|whatever why any GSU employee or S&W representative would consider

|
Holden a threat or have any reason to discredit him. |

|'

.

|
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Actions Taken to Preclude "Chilline Effects"
~

Mr. Milhoan's letter of July 31, 1992 also requests a
response which:

.

2. Describes the actions, if any, taken or
planned to assure that this employment
action does not have a chilling ef fect in
discouraging other IIcensee or contractor
employees from raising perceived safety
concerns..

Fundamentally, GSU's termination of Holden in November
1990 during RT-3 vill have no chilling ef fect in discouraging other
employees from raising perceived safety concerns because the
termination was made for legitimate, performance-related reasons.
Moreover, both GSU and contractor employees who worked with Nolden
understood the reasons for his dismissal and, at least to s.ome
degree, shared management's opinion of Holden's job performance. |

|

With regard to Holden's subsequent employment by GE |
during the generator outage in December 1991, CSU took no i

employment action against Mr. Holden whatsoever. Holden co=pleted
his scheduled tern of employment with GE, which ended just after

e letion of the outage. To the extent that" M the GSU j
;

: , questioned Holden's voykT vertire on :

ris mas, the GE presentatives who heard L comments |,

; understood that as merely questioning unnecessary overtime, |
'

1 not seeking Hol s termination.

With res act to 1 den's claims tha(M the GSU'

gave bad references to prospective
,

employers, no chi ing ef fee ill occur because no such action was i

taken. Moreover, Holden's quality concerns were processed '

i contidentially within the GSU Quality Concern Program.. on'.y I

Quality Assurance Department and management personnel were aware of
those claims. Other GSU or contract employees would have no
knowledge of Holden's quality concerns or their disposition.
Accordingly, their villingness to report safety or quality matters
would be unaffected by Holden's unsubstantiated claims of bad .

'

references.

Nevertheless, to provi dded assurance against the
potential for such claims, the GS has reinforced !

; existing GSU policy with explicit structions that any references ;

for contract personnel are to come only from the contractor. Any4

references for GSU personnel are to come only f on the SU Human'
i

; Relations Department (Reference 7). Also, th ;

i
i
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has scheduled a full presentation to be made this Tall by the Human
Relations Department on compliance with requirements under Section
210 of the Energy Reorganization Act and 10 C.F.R. 5 50.7 for those
engaged in protected activities.

,

GSU managers encourage GSU employees and contract
employees to resolve any quality or other safety concern through
the GSU Quality concern Program, including concerns of harassment,
discrimination or retaliation of any kind. The anonymity and
confidentiality af forded employees who submit such concerns help to
assure the continued success of the program. Based on the number
of concerns filed since Holden's termination in November 1990,
taking into account the number and duration of outages, ths
allegations in Mr. Holden's letter to DOL have not had any
" chilling effect" on the villingness of employees to come forvard
with concerns. .

Finally, notwithstanding our finding that no adverse
action was taken against Holden for his filing of quality conce'rns-
or engaging in any other protected action, GSU management will not
hesitate to take disciplinary and other personnel actions necessary -
to preclude any violation of 10 CFR 50.7. We sincerely believe
that such personnel actions taken to date have successfully l
deterred harassment and fostered an environment in which employees l

feel free to raise any safety or quality concerns.. Additionally,
concerns invol ng any implication of misconduct by management are
reviewed by with ,,

representativ of the Nuclear Review card. Accordingly, GSU !

ranagement is confident that, following the NRC's review of |
Holden's enployment at the River Bend site, your conclusion vill )
corroborate our findings that there has been no violation of 10 CFR '

50.7 nor any chilling of f act on the villingness of GSU employees to i

raise safety concerns. i

III. Conclusion
,

Tor the reasons discussed above, no employment action was
taken against Mr. Holden in retaliation for his having engaged in
any activity protected by federal law. The only employment action 1

taken against Mr. Holden by GSU vas his termination on November 15,
1990 for hona fide, performance-related reasons of absenteeism, '

tardiness, low productivity and an inability to demonstrate a
knowledge of the ASME Code commensurate with his position as an
ASME Code Technician. No evidence of bad references to prospective
employers was uncovered.

Because no employment action was taken against Mr. Holden
in violation of federal law, no chilling effect in discouraging

-21-
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,

'

other licensee or contractor employees from raising perceived
: safety,_ concerns is likely to result. GsU has nonetheless taken
' af firmative steps to help assure against future claims that bad

references have been given to prospective employers, and also plans
to retrain GSU staff on the importance of compliance with federali

law protecting those who engage in protected activities.
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BOLDENS
DAILY WORK LOG

.

Week SUN PON TUES WED THUR FRI SAT COMMartS
'

Ending
'

9/29 SOF7 10 9 9 8 4 SOFF TRAINING'

10/6 0FF 8 12 0FF 12 11 12 12 ER/SF~

.

10/13 12 12 12 OFF 12 3 11.5

10/20 12 12 12 0FF OFF 12 12

10/241 12 12 12 0FF 12 2 13

11/3 12 12 12 OFF OFF 12 12 MIcirts to
DAYS i

11/10 12 12 12 OFF 12 12 11 -

,

11/17 12 12 OFF C77 8 8 LIT 00
THVR

'
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BLCCK 10 5-:NVESTIGATION & DISPOSITION

NVESTIGATION: The investigation of this event revileci that ne
veider and his foreman vare either misinformed or had a

| misconception of the total scope and applicability of River Bends )
velding program. Both individuals failed to reali:ed nat
fabrication of shop tools by velding was under the scope of the

j Non-Code portion of the velding program (app-70ll) and
,consequently must be performed by a qualified velder 2 sing

'

<

l properly issued veld filler saterisl. This misconception i"

resulted in the procedural violations denoted in block 3 of this
'

nndition report.

-'e *st fix ure which was fsbri:stec was :tei for -he [CIC .est.

run 2nd vas removed form the ;over bloca sfter the test nus , |

eliminating a plant safety operational concern. ~

DISPOSITION: N/A
;

!

1

'

BLOCK 13: ROOT CAUSE AND CCRRECT 7E ACTION TO PREVENT
BECCBBENCE.

'

The root cause of this event was the velder and velder foreman
.o. recegni::ng the relationsni; between shep tool fabriestion by :,

weid:ng sne .ne requirements of Biver Sends Non-Code velding |

;r: gram requirements. Training en his event vi*l be provided f:r
s11 333 veiders and their foreman. Isen GSU velder and their
f: reman snall be required to read and sign -he attached letter
sign:fying -hat they have been made svare of *.he requirements f:r !

! sbr :st :n .)f tools by veyding.

1

i
,

.

-;
e

d

.

k
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BLCCK 10 "

INVESTIGATION 3 ANALYSIS '

,
i 'n the nignt tf Oct 1$. .990 st approximate 2000 hours,

as obse rved veldi..4 on a aluminum tool fixture
.

he night snift 6 It was. r1 determineo ,

was not certified to perform aluminna '

velding and tna he was erforming the task without a5y paperr
vortfi.e. MWO. weld data sheet or MWR) or 1pproved filler*

, =aterial. To be spee:fic he was making his own filler ma te rial,
,

i from small pieces of sluminum. The welding engineer contacted.he welders foreman and supervisor and U2 formed them of theprocedure violation. At this time no attempt was zade to stop tthe work or comply with the velding procedures by either the
,

'
foreman or supervisor.

,
,

The ualding which was being ;erformed is considered non-code rvelding and falls under -he .urisdiction of S?P-7011. General| Welding Procedure for Non-tode Activities. This procedure
,-

clearly establishes -he rules for non-code welding activities
,

suen as tool fabrication. truck repair and other activities of,
'

this nature and the procedure has been in effect since 1987. The
procedure specifically requires that:

| - '

i only velders qualified :n sccordance with 3D*4 -vo lding~

, program enall ;erfera production velding, temporary velding.
| tack welding or repair velding and
-

1

All welders for QA Categories I. II. III, and non category
',

!

welding shall be qualified for the material and process in |accordance with G30' welding pregram and ;

That velding shall to acccmplished us ing filler metals
-

.
. spec:fied by the velding procedure specification and4

,

That .he velding foreman shall be responsible for ensuring
that all veldLng perfor:ed is accomplished by employing the
requirements of SPP-7011 and '

,

That the designated welding foreman shall issue a veld datai

sheet for the veld data ;ackage before any velding is under! taken and the veld data sheet shall identify the applicable
| WP5 to be employed for velding.

Contrary to the procedural require ents denoted above the velding:

| vas being performed:

By a velder who was not qualified to the specific process
! and material and
:|

| The veld filler .aterisl being used was not in ccepliance
! with the appropriate sold procedure specift:ation and
E

33 313, ; , e - - - - - -- r - - . weld 1sta entet ir ra ti ista
!

!

,

- . . , _
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1

paccate .snd

The velder v.ts vorming without s 7.WO aven tnrou(n a blanze i

MWO for non-ccce thop v41 d i..4 if sisc tools had bee
1pproved ind : ace sva11able *.o 111.Mecn. f oreman ind ha

~~ teen usec nu erous ::es before -and ,

The fore =as ..cr the supervisor insured the velding'vas cet: '

tperfor:ed in accordance with SPP-70ll,

31scusatons with the velder and foreman reviled that -hey ver

aware of the procecursi requirements for fabrication 5.isc tool
by ve lding and -hat a blanzet MWO was available for thi

activity. However the individuals vare tiso aware that .he MW
required that the velding be performed by a qualified welder an

* hat a velder qualified *o aluminua was not available at -h
.

.

':=e. therefore the decision was made to use a unqualifie
.

without censulti..g engineerin4 This 1ct10n resul,ted in tne firs
--

vielasie n.

G30's velding program dcas not allev the insurance of veld fille ,

material to i velder who is not qualified to the process besc ,

'

used therefore the velder could not obtain filler matertsl. In a
asteept to get around this blockage the velder was instructed t ,

fabricate filler mater:sl from the sluminum plate which resulte ;

in violation no. j..

'

In addition both activities denoted above was perform with th

kn:vledge and consent of -he velder's foreman and supervisor ,

This act violates the require =ent established by SPP Toli an

resul ed in the .hird violat;cn. Violation number four occu

unen .he fore =an and superv sor was informed of the procecurs ,

prooles anc tney f ailed stop vors. This is in direct violatio

of ADM-28.

n :enclusion .he actions denoted sbove indicates -hat .h*

by this condition report 44+--
g#) .procecural violat Lon docu entedpW 2 -C M ism - n-2-et ; c:re"-vant Gstf*. est W 8 a

ff

/ % ([ /.; k o h 6 ./P .:a"d...g ,r.gn =-- m e : et i r .. At - f i .:d::w e; c ... ... L g -- - -:
.

-h. . m ..e c...e .;;aiished--h approved p rocc s4

_ H JA < - . .- ..

' ~

See block '3 for corrective action.
-, :

|

I
1
1

.
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MEM0RANDUM

:

10s._. GSU Mechanical Mainterance Tonman Mcmuter 5,1990 !
and Waldars .

FKM 6 MM M-90-349.

i

SUB.7: totMIrE M5DDC FueviMED CKMSIIE
CF KNER BIICK,14.100[. FABRICNTIQt f

.

31 ease be advised that all weldi..y perf:r ed f::: .g tha fabriestic . cf
cr.-ecde emis 5.%11d he rerfer ed r. recor,.anco vith .SFP i^11,d

EDX., 'II.DEC ??CCTOt;RE FOR !.C.' <CCE ;CT-'.P$. O.a scrx should he
dee-ented in accert'.anen '4th MC P143689, .htich has been establishedc
fer this curiese. '

j

::en-<cde midi..g is defit.ed as any wlding shich is perfer:ned that is
..ot sus eet to AS>E, MISI, ANS or other fabricatica cois requirrene.e

?:ce.-Ccde aldir.g enecrpasses su2h activities as truck repair, shen-

tml fabrication and other :-iscellar.ects wlding activitias as defbed
by e.a 1*elding Engir.eer. TABRICATI(N Cf LUTDG DEVICES ARE NOT
CCP/ERID BY " MIS CEFINITICN.

_

*: elders ute wish to teccre prefi:ient 6 anothar wlding precess er.-

tec. .ic.:e nay cbtain wid filler .aterial fer practies/tralr.: .?
y m ses. Sa .".aanter.ance Fore-an is resgc .s:.ble fer datem. nits e.e
-, .:e ef widir.g t: be terf:r ed 6r:. .? e.e erac-i:e/t.rs:.r.ir.g acuvitf.
e :.s also resper.sible f r ensur::.9 that e.a acti.%t/ s contre 11ed ir.v

accordance with the recuirements of $?P 7009. All pracnce/trair.irq
acuvities shall he apczmad by the Weldira Engir.eer/Cesigree prier to
issvar.ca cf wid filler :ater:al.

.

,_-. ,

- - - - --- r= L . -
'

-

- -- --- .. __

O s'= y

11/s"".

t: 6
|

' '

,

! i

- _ . .

.-,e-my n



.y . ., "

O (?1.4..

Raquired K44

P1LocTDtTRI QRIIN?ATICN/AI0tTIRIT READIMC trcc*

5. ave read and undars tand the folleving q (ctog?)
'

*?;::edura.'Yee.o( O . (CI
, ..

f'C::s Ref.

2. *Titta ~ 2. *Rav/ Data
_

-

_.

(Cross Raf.J
' Doc. .L:.ss -

.. See:1:nts) -

.

5.*551
(Cres s Ra f. ) 6,*NAMI (Print or type)

' Cross Raf. ) 7.5ICHATURI
~8.DATE CCM

--

SII RIVTRSI SIDE TCR P.*RS21 ISTCRKATICH*Indssing Informacien
~

. . , . . . . . . _
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Katstree G

FROCEDtntZ QRIENTATTON/RIOUTRID READIllC UCDtB (G10CT*

5. ave read and undarstand the following )
:

". '?;::sdurar. war.o( b O(. (CI
. .

0::ss lef. :
2. 'dliis ~ 2. *Rav/ Data

..(Cross Ref.J
' Soc. . .:.a s '

.

1 facet:nts)-

~

s s Ra f. ) '_ f " D'I I * 3MM
'8.DATE CCh

-

.
,

!

1

.

s

J

i

i.
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|
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|

1

,

I
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FROCEDURI QRTENTATION/RIOUTR.rD RZADINC 12q* ' ave
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(m).

*
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'

:s s aet. .
_ 2, *Rev/Date

2. *i[his (Cross Raf.J
'*Joc. H :.as ~

*

. See:1:nfs) _
.
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5.*S$1
6.*MANI (Print or type)

7.5IGNATURE(Cress Re f. )__ Cross Raf.)(
_

8.DATE CCM

+
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SII RIVERSI SIDE T01 T'."RT".G1 INTORMATION
.
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.1 No veld satorial. shall be issued
I from this type station for mainte-

nance or production work unless
approved by the APM and Welding
Engineer for specific
outside the protected area. projectsA aseo |'-'

to the APM shall identify the-
scope and extant of the project.

~

N .2 Material issued from this type
dt station shall be issued by the APM,

0 Welding Engineer, or designes.,g
~

6)
7.3.2 The issuance and return of all weld filler

aaterial shall.be controlled and documented
' g([( on the Wald Material Requisition (WMR), Iy

. i

~\ Attachment 8.1. '

.

1 y , }'d "
~

7.3.3 ye veld filler material shall be issued*<

t.f .J .l without a. properly . completed ..and signed |

.
'

'

'' '
WMR. The issuing attendant shall ansure 1-

y the WXR is preparly completed, signed lind- |
d the velder is qualified for the W78 listed, |
F except as noted below:

h .1 From issue station (sy. as described in
,

paragraph 7.3.1.4, where personnel who | ;
are training or qualif are not :
-q huad to the specif.ie.ying,d W P S . ,.j

-
*

,. ..
__

,

.2 :. On special:cecasions where .a _vandor or |
:,5: w t so m. % hwmew.,

L*- *W ~ JE M W'*

. e.- t napcesata. M4 sew % wmay :sse-
.. .. , n N:e .yalddag4bd e 4 r M =1 t+M

'QM.fg.) a@M~-W.&.a ^M:1W * -%!= =_

. - -$ . - -- . .es. pperator-vbo is svc-qsalifiod .ia accor- 1, ''

' danes . with .4sU' e *sesaral-Malatanance
2 _ -- ,e ff m f as*n+Ma*ianets.. ,

ran-tho' following .Miti1ns sefag
mat : prior sto Sany. welding or brasing
being, parformed

,

.- 'A. bi& %,$#'.x -hed l' I--
'

1
, -

4 .eure 2am e u - e a,-
- & -- ' pwed by rtha'Aralding.1Ersy!csar.-'c

, e. . p..

.

-
-, ,

^

PROCIDVRE Ho[ SPP-7009 REV 7 \. PAGE 6 CF 20, .
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7.3.1.4 ' Test Tacility" receta issue statim (s) shall i

be established and located (on a tacporary or
long tenn basis) as desced necessary by tbs AFM
and/or Welding En pneer. This type otation |
shall be used fcr t;w purppse of weld, braze or !-

thermal spray y. m a- g=1u<c tim,
welder /brazar or . weldintraining and/or g/themal._c*H= pesys
operators md
s:ull incw ym .ta all p icna of tid.s

.

proce&re except as follows.

7.3.1.4.1 No veld material shall be issued
frts this type statim for '

saintenance or prcAM= vczk
unless yys4 by the APH and
W1Ahw tw<c.-- fcr - se -4 M e'

projech o_o Tda the protecteli arse.
A ceno to the AIM ahall. identify the
secp and - of the projecc. :

)Y 7.3.1.4.2 Matarial issued form this '
p( g,p\ s t= H= ehall be issued by the

W1dN Engirmar, or designes.
,

g '

h p) [ O 7.3.2 2e issuance and return of all weld filler ceterial shali !be controlled and doetmented on the Wald Material !
,

g g Requisitice (M) Attac} cent 1. '

f F .3.3 No veld filler material shall be' issued without a7
4 pr ly capleted and signed M. h issuing attendant ij( sb ensure the M is signed and id.a wider ir qualified greperly caplated,for the WPS listed.g

7.3.3.1 *Cxcept frtin issus statim (s) as described in
sub a. 7.3.1.4 where somel training or

,

are not to the s;=-4 Nd .

. -

.

7.3.4 No one shall have in his/her possession any
velding/ brazing filler meterial or thermal spray powder y
withcut a eccplated and signed WR.

,

7.3.5 only the persomel on the authorized list selled by the
Welding . ear are pertuitted to issue a WA to
velders/ vel operators, brazars, or thernal spray
cperators.

7.3.6 Electrodes issued to velders form storage ovens or<

hermetically saaled containers shculd be placed in
portable rod evens upon issuance. If portabla rod ovens
are not available or practical.for the application,,

electrodes may be issued in leather pcuchas.
,

c ..

*
,

( syt.7009 Rev. - 6 - PAGE 5 or 16
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Surte: : Events i e ac ;r.: to tr.e wet :te.c of 0. A. r.o. so.;ocg |

ur.ous. 'reo -elder .
.

On the sight of October 26. 19eo at accroxicatelv OCCF '

hours. as I w a s wa ll: Ing througn the cole sacr.ine shoo. ! neare
the so6no of G~AW being performed usang high frecuenev, sines
this 15 not a common welding crocess useo at River Pend. I went
to sse -..t; .as celag welcoc.

r" '
I observeo '7 Weld Symbol No. 8011. welding on ar |

aluminum itse was also ; resent. helping his as
reouiree..As:J oored aroun the work area ! reali:ed trsatKjfon

'i

of the usual 'documenta tion required for welding was presentt so I
spoke a,f g su g4ed z.,t t[ af: yy, 1_p c . .-

.

. > . , . ..:. - v* - - Je --

! imm ed i a t e l y left the area an croceeded to the Wele
'

Matertal Issue Station. I was sure that was not quailf f ed te
weld aluminum usang the GTAW Process. T'i wanted to verify it
by checktng the Qualified Welders List. A review of this document
shewed that he was not cualified. I then Que s tioned the welc
issue attencants about assuing of aluminum weld filler material .
all advised me that thev had not issued any. ! * hen searcnec.

in cagr t .". e wele Fatarial Eeoutsitaons assuso for tne 26tn of
Octocer. this search showed no alumanum weld filler material ;

: s s.. : - --!.

kghjh tm, jwent cack tc the col: s hoo ano talked to
conversatson to the cast cf ev wnowlecge was as f ol:ows |

; asree '=nat are vou weletng on~* He said. a clamo tc
ce useo fer C test". I then a sk ed. " where as your cacerwore"- |

|He s a a c . -! d on * t have any*. I then asked.*where are you est ne
vour fil:ee material-' he saac."we are making it".,1 saa ,rvot j
enow wou are not ovalaf**d to =elo aluminua". He said." ! know ;

-

-as told ts weld it Dv av f oreman". I said."who as vour f oremar : ;

neeo to talk to hia". He said.

iI en lof no went into the foreman's of fice and tolc
I nee talk to him a bout the weldinq tnat was*

oeir.g cerformed b 4EEEL To the be s t o f av E nowl ed g e t he f o l l ow a n g
ccnversation transos between us

;

esled h "did vou tell to do the welding .los he :sI
: o : r. * * -p s ..".sa- t. .e - asie:.'c= ,eu er.c. ..a as :

'

*

cualifies to weld alumar.ue * He s a ac."ves . but we c:ce.' t c r a w a r. . |
I-el: ate * s* are *e 11 :3'o antar: r :!sms to :s tse: .ts

' .s c ; i s t - -.*::- is r eece: :ac- I sats. -! e :11 r. ave e ore:;e-

.. : t " tra- ci. c e it is 'ot 1. *cce*:ence wa t . tre -e.::-- ,

1

|
*

.

!

|
-

1

1
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~~. -se asats. s. :.. :- . . . 4. .ee :s:.es.
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-- .g . e g ., ..

+newlecge tre d:llewa.g is .e : or v e e n s t :, .- tr.a t 3g, ;;,gg,
* vale. .';ev : ee: :: : s " .. :: se'. #:: t t .s w ei::. : :sa.

.. s .' - - = * e . s. ', .4 : . . a . . . :. 0 . :: ~e.: a s . :. .a... g . e,
.- *.

ma61ng the f:1;er ma terial' . He said. "! enow wnat you are Sas-

e. we e re . - . e .- * : . . * :- s * et ine t .e is ceraa~ee , .* I saa:I

uncerstanc wnat you are working on. but you know better tqvons at i* As not in accordanc2 wath tre welgang rograthen sa1C.*M oc vou want me t: c 11 tr. a cualifelcer c o.S o l e te the Jot''' g then tel 3 No comolete 2
*

: ....: . . - :* : :. . . . . :J . ;. .. . . . .

* *., .. .. .
.

are ta ing a hit on it". "

I then 1 %t the cold naQine snoe and returned to av c3
and called yoQ 6and informed you of the s1NTE '

,

I stated at that time that I font a C.R. should be written si '

it was a procedural violation. ag aln s t.. the orttire wel ding @@t,qand y advised me to write it er endin our conversakfbncalle 0.5.U.'s,

. and advi '

him of the creolem anc that I had talkea to you ans that aC l

was to de written. and he concurred.
i Ated,
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80CMEMORANDUM -

'

TO: Holden of Nuclear PS/MD426
-- Procedures Manual Effective Date: April 20,1992

Revision: 5
Page 1 of 4 *

FROM: Senior Vice President - RENG (RBNP 020)
-

g _ ,. . .e a a : .,,_

Nuclear Procedures Manual 2#N.

Policy SbtemeWMe gement Directive (PS/MD) gg

SL*BJECT: Contract Employet Poucles

.

A. CONTRACT EMPLOYEE PROCUREMENT POLICY
. ~.

In today's environment at a n'x!=r p :ct plant, even roudne employment decisions can
have dgnificant impact on the Company and on the individuals involved in maling such
decisions. nis is panicularly true of contractor emp!oyees who may be employed at'

ber Bend for only a rejuively short ime.

'

To ensure the desired fevel of control and to minimize problems with potendal
contrar.crs, cunent contractors and contract employees, the foUowing procurement
poUcies shall be foDowed:

(1) he Senior Vice President RENG's approval on a Purchase Raquiridon is
required to authorize the use of contract employees.

(2) Au procurernent related communicadon, wrinen and oral, for contract employees
e.ajj be throug,h the Contracts and Procurunent Scryices (CPS) Group.

(3) Tbs CPS Crcup wiD request resumes from contnc:en only after the Senior Vice
Pre:sident RENG has authorized the use of contracs unployees per item (1) above.

(4) h CPS Citxrp will obtain from the low cost supptler resumes of qualif.ed
individuals for the requestor's review. GSU win accept only resumes of contrset
employees requested by the CPS Group. AH Krtna submitting resumes at the
request of GSU will be diraud to rubmit those resumes to the acendon of the
Supervisor-CPS or designet. AH resumes submiced will be unpriced. The CPS
Group wiD provide the requesting River Bend IIne Supervisor with copies of those
resumes.


